Mid and South Essex Integrated Care System

Integrated Care Strategy

2023 - 2033

March 2023

Table of Contents

1 Context 1

	1.1	The health and care system	1
	1.2	Our successes	2
	1.3	Our challenges	3
	1.4	How we have developed this strategy	4
	1.5	Review of partner strategies	5
	1.6	Our communities - evidence of need	5
	1.7	Engagement findings	6
	1.8	This strategy	7
	1.9	The language we use	8
	1.10	Risk, safeguarding and equality	9
	1.11	Sustainability and the environment	9
2	Ou	r Common Endeavour	10
	2.1	Reducing inequalities together	10
	2.2	A new model partnership	10
	2.3	Working together locally	12
B	Ou	r shared objectives	14
	an	d priorities	
	3.1	Defining and reviewing our shared priorities	14
4	Pai	rtner Priorities	16
	4.1	Determinants of health	16
	4.2	Core20PLUS5 - health priorities for all ages	17
	4.3	Adult care	20
	4.4	Babies, children and young people	21
	4.5	The first 5,000 households	23
6	Со	mmunity Priorities	24
	5.1	Access	24
	5.2	Openness	24
	5.3	Involvement	24
	5.4	Awareness	25
	5.5	Responsibility	25

6	Sy	stem Priorities	27
	6.1	System pressures	27
	6.2	Workforce recruitment, retention, and development	27
	6.3	Early intervention and prevention	28
	6.4	Connecting care	28
	6.5	Digital, data and shared records	28
7	Но	w we will work together	30
	7.1	Shape of the partnership	30
	7.2	Ways of working	30
	7.3	Shared goals and learning	31
	7.4	Acting together	32
8	Go	vernance and operation	34
	8.1	Our board	34
	8.2	Inputs and outputs	34
	8.3	Membership	34
	8.4	Terms of reference and values	34
	8.5	Regulatory and statutory requirements	35
	8.6	Resources	35
Ар	per	ndix One	
Рор	ulatic	on health data - snapshot 1	
Ар	per	ndix Two	3
Reg	ulato	ry and statutory requirements	3
Ар	per	ndix Three	5
Prio	rities	for the Mid and South Essex Health ar	nd

Care Partnership



1.1 The health and care system

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are partnerships of organisations coming together to plan and deliver joined up health and care services and improve the lives of people who live and work in their area.

Following several years of locally led development, recommendations from NHS England and the passage of the Health and Care Act (2022), fortytwo ICSs were established across England on a statutory basis on 1st July 2022. The ICS is made up of two main committees:

> Integrated Care Board (ICB): A statutory NHS organisation responsible for developing a plan to meet the health needs of the population, managing the NHS budget, and arranging for the provision of health services in the Integrated Care System area. The establishment of ICBs resulted in Clinical Commissioning Groups being closed.

Integrated Care Partnership (ICP): A statutory committee jointly formed between the NHS ICB and all uppertier local authorities falling within the ICS's area (councils with responsibility for child and adult social care and public health). The ICP will bring together a broad alliance of partners concerned with improving the care, health, and wellbeing of the population, with membership determined locally. The ICP is responsible for producing an Integrated Care Strategy on how to meet the health and wellbeing needs of the population in the Integrated Care System area.

In Mid and South Essex, our ICS is made up of a wide range of partners, supporting our population of 1.2m people. We operate at several levels, ensuring we always organise our work and deliver services at the most local appropriate level and closest to the residents we serve:

> Neighbourhoods: The areas covered by our 27 Primary Care Networks, and local neighbourhood teams, etc.

Places:

The areas covered by our four Alliances, covering Mid Essex, Basildon and Brentwood, Thurrock and South East Essex.

• System: The whole of Mid and South Essex.

Our Partnership includes;

- Three upper tier local authorities: Essex County Council, Southend-on-Sea City Council (unitary), and Thurrock Council (unitary).
- Seven district councils: Basildon Borough Council, Braintree District Council, Brentwood Borough Council, Castle Point Borough Council, Chelmsford City Council, Maldon District Council, Rochford District Council.
- One acute hospital provider: Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust (MSEFT).
- Mid and South Essex Community Collaborative: Bringing together NHS community services in mid and south Essex -Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (EPUT), North East London NHS Foundation Trust (NELFT) and Provide CIC.

- One ambulance service provider: East of England Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (EEAST).
- Primary care:
 27 Primary Care Networks (PCN)
 covering 180 GP Practices. Page 2 of 35
- Three local independent watchdog bodies: Healthwatch Essex, Healthwatch Southend and Healthwatch Thurrock.
- Nine community and voluntary sector associations:
 Basildon, Billericay and Wickford CVS, Brentwood CVS, Castle Point Association of Voluntary Services (CAVS), Chelmsford CVS, Community 360 (covering the Braintree District), Maldon and District CVS, Rayleigh, Rochford and District Association for Voluntary Service (RRAVS (RRAVS), Southend Association of Voluntary Services (SAVS) and Thurrock CVS.

• Other partners:

Essex Police, Essex County Fire and Rescue Service, parish and town councils, the Local Medical Committee, local universities and colleges and community and faith organisations.

The diagram below shows the shape of our partnership:



1.2 Our successes

In Mid and South Essex we are building on firm foundations. The organisations and agencies working to improve health and social care outcomes for our residents have been working together positively for several years, starting with the formation of a Sustainability and Transformation Partnership in 2017, leading to the establishment of the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership. In 2020 we agreed a Memorandum of Understanding, committing us to work together on a set of nine priorities:

- 1. Prevention
- 2. Partnership
- 3. Whole Systems Thinking
- 4. Strengths and Asset Based Approach
- 5. Subsidiarity
- 6. Empowering Front-Line Staff to do the Right Thing
- 7. Pragmatic Pluralism
- 8. Health Intelligence and the Evidence Base
- 9. Innovation

Appendix Three details how the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership described these priorities/principles.

A draft strategy was produced which, along with our practical experience of working together, has substantially informed our thinking. Although our previous strategy could not be formalised due to prioritising our response to the COVID-19 pandemic, now our Integrated Care System has been given legal standing under the Health and Care Act (2022), we will build on our excellent track record of partnership working to take this work forward over the next decade through this Integrated Care Strategy.

1.3 Our challenges

Our health and care systems are stretched beyond capacity. What have been typically regarded as 'winter pressures' are now evident year-round. Demand for health and social care services has increased exponentially, outpacing funding provided from central government to both the NHS and local authorities.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and workforce pressures have created unprecedented waiting lists. In many areas, such as consultant-led referrals and cancer diagnosis and treatment, it has caused significant backlogs and consequential impacts on quality of life for individuals. Pressure on primary care, children's and adult social care, and urgent and emergency services is extreme.

At a system and community level, we recognise a mismatch between:

Demand	Capacity
Where we are best supported	Where we seek support
Our desire to invest in early intervention and prevention	The requirement to prioritise urgent and emergency care and support
Our willingness as citizens to be involved	Opportunities to become involved
Our desire to trust systems and services	Our experiences and messages we receive
Our desire to give equal value to all system players	The dominance of key system players such as the NHS or adult social care

Most of our resources are invested in dealing with the consequences of long-term conditions, such as obesity, diabetes and mental ill-health, leaving much less available for helping people to maintain or improve their own health and wellbeing and finding effective support within their communities.

Changing this dynamic is a major social challenge of our time. It will require a significant reset, with action required by all partners, including those in the voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sectors. The change will necessitate a mindset-shift about the future role of residents and community organisations, moving them to a position where both are seen and treated as full and equal value partners in creating better health and care outcomes. Our future health and social care system cannot simply be about providers or services 'getting it right' for the public; it must involve a new covenant with residents and community organisations, asking them directly to partner with services to help our residents stay healthy and well.

"It is not enough to do things differently; we need to be prepared to do different things."

To achieve this shift, our Strategy includes a shared public statement of ambition, bringing together residents and services in a single 'Common Endeavour'. Our ambition is informed by evidence and experience, supported by clarity about what must happen to deliver our objectives, what actions we will pursue to get there and underpinned by the measures to know we are successful.

To support our Strategy, we are also establishing clear mechanisms for our Partnership to receive and consider regular updates on system performance, alongside providing space to explore emerging challenges and opportunities.

1.2 Our successes

Our overall approach to developing this Strategy was agreed by the Chair and the three Vice Chairs of the ICP, with support from the three local Healthwatch organisations and confirmed in the Partnership's first meeting in September 2022. We knew it was essential the buildingblocks of our strategy were informed by a range of conversations with residents, community organisations, clinicians, care professionals and leaders in the NHS, plus our local authorities. Accordingly, we have undertaken:



A Review of Partner Strategies and Joint Strategic Needs Assessments:

We reviewed 27 publicly available strategies and plans from partner organisations within the Mid and South Essex ICP, as well as the relevant Joint Strategic Needs Assessments. Each strategy covered a three-to-five-year period between 2018 and 2026.

A Health inequality data analysis:

We reviewed the evidence of need as identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments published by our three upper tier local authorities (Southend, Essex and Thurrock) and from our own Population Health Management team's health inequality data packs.

Engagement:

We held eight workshops based in community venues, collectively engaging more than 170 people from all parts of our system, including elected councillors, system leaders, staff and, most importantly, members of our community. We also used the 'Essex is United – Your Questions Answered' Facebook group to ask a series of questions of the general public. Each was viewed on average 1,700 times, with an average of 280 comments and votes on each question.

In terms of our approach, we did not start with a firm proposal and test it with partners and stakeholders, rather, we adopted an 'appreciative enquiry' approach (focusing on what is working well and how we can do more of this), developing the proposals into an initial 'Concept Paper' which we then presented to the colleagues, partners and community members who had contributed. We then held a further 25+ one-to-one and small group meetings with partner organisations and agencies.



Feedback has been extremely positive and we are proud of the engagement work we have undertaken as part of this process. However, we know there is more work to do, especially in gathering the views and experiences of residents and a broader section of staff who work in our health and care system. We also want to undertake more work with residents who come from more marginalised groups and are less often heard, often referred to as 'Inclusion Health Groups'. This will become an ongoing feature of the work of the ICP as it moves forward. Engagement will not be a one-off event, it will be an ongoing, permanent feature of how we will work together as a Partnership.

All our conversations and analysis have reinforced the message that things need to change. There is a common understanding that improving the health and care of residents in Mid and South Essex depends on every part of the ICP playing a part in a rebalancing of our health and social care system towards prevention, early intervention, and anticipatory care, learning from partners who do this well and promoting and sharing best practice.

1.5 Review of partner strategies

Our review of 27 partner strategies identified many overarching themes, including:

Persistent inequalities:

These lead to lower quality of life and shorter life expectancyfor many, particularly for residents in parts of Basildon, Thurrock and Southend. Partners agree eradicating these differences starts by acknowledging and investing in the wider determinants of health and ensuring pathway design begins with prevention and early intervention. This must also involve a real focus on babies, children and young people, where many future health problems are seeded.

Growing and ageing population:

With this comes a wide array of conditions including dementia, cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, as well as the wider challenges of frailty and increased social isolation. It is vital our solutions better meet the increasing volume and complexity of need in a sustainable way, including the provision of care closer to home. This pressure will only increase on Integrated Care System partners if we do not act now in terms of future pressure on Integrated Care System partners across health and care services if we do not act now.

Mental health conditions:

These are increasing in both adults and children and in some areas suicide rates are increasing at a worrying pace. Supporting people to feel comfortable talking about mental health, reducing stigma and encouraging communities to work together are highlighted as key to improving mental health and wellbeing. Community partners have a particularly important role to play in supporting mental health and wellbeing ahead of escalation to mental health services for children and adults.

1.6 Our communities - evidence of need

We have undertaken an in-depth review of health inequality data, gathered from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment published by our three upper tier local authorities (Southend, Essex, and Thurrock) and the ICP's Population Health Management team. This has generated a strong foundation for our work together as partners. Appendix One provides a snapshot of the challenges we face together.

In particular, there is evidence that:

- A significant majority of Mid and South Essex's most economically deprived population live in Basildon (where 17% are part of the 20% most deprived nationally), Southend (15%) and Thurrock (11%).
- Premature mortality caused by cardio-vascular disease, cancer, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is particularly high amongst disadvantaged groups, driven by inequalities attributable to a range of socio-economic factors.
- Smoking prevalence amongst adults is particularly high in Basildon and Thurrock.
- The proportion of adults identified as overweight or obese is particularly high in Thurrock.

However, it is recognised that, as the Office of National Statistics states in the notes to the English Indices of Deprivation, "Not everyone living in a deprived neighbourhood is deprived, and many deprived people live in non-deprived areas". In Mid and South Essex, we have invested as individual partners and as a system, in developing our data and business intelligence capability and capacity. We have an established Population Health Management team, reporting to a Population Health Improvement Board.

We will continue to develop this capability to support our Partnership's work, using the very best available evidence, both in terms of quantitative and qualitative data. Quantitative data tells us about need and outcomes in terms of numbers or metrics - qualitative data tells us about needs and outcomes from the stories of those we are, and wish to be, supporting. We acknowledge there is more work to do on this.

1.7 Engagement findings

We have actively sought involvement from a wide range of statutory and non-statutory organisations and community groups, involved in the provision of health and social care services.

Although some experiences varied, the engagement workshops confirmed improved relationships between partner organisations and increased collaboration, particularly at a local Alliance level, was evident and conversations are more evidence-based, with an increased focus on shared outcomes rather than inputs and activities. However, they also identified several key challenges:

System

- Lack of clarity about the respective roles of the ICP, ICB, Health & Wellbeing Boards and Alliances.
- Financial restrictions and 'red tape' mean funding does not flow around the system easily enough. Budgets are often not aligned, let alone pooled.
- Difficult to prioritise and fund prevention and early intervention and meet urgent demands (this should not be a 'get out clause').
- Duplication and friction across patient pathways due to operational silos and lack of shared records.
- Workforce recruitment, development and retention issues lead to staff shortages and risk of burnout.

Communication and engagement

Communication with residents, patients and service users is too complex and onedirectional, making it difficult for people to understand choices, leading to default use of A&E or GPs and feeling uninvolved and disenfranchised.

Community

- We encourage people to go to services for issues they could address themselves or within their community.
- Top-down approach does not reflect the priorities or needs of residents and local communities. There is also insufficient service user engagement.
- Services are difficult to access.
 There are not enough appointments and long delays.
- Individuals are sometimes concerned about asking for help, because they don't believe they will be seen or listened to or will be adding pressure on services.
- Individuals were frustrated some people used the wrong services, which could block access for those with genuine need.

Partnerships

Concern amongst voluntary and community sector partners around equality of access to the most important conversations and decision making, with a desire to move to a more equal partnership.

L.

1.8 This strategy

Following the engagement work undertaken, a 'Concept Paper' was produced, proposing how the ICP could articulate a single Integrated Care Strategy and outlining the priorities which all partners agreed. It was presented to the ICP in November 2022 and, following agreement, the initial Strategy was developed and agreed by Partners in December 2022.

In recognition of the scale of the task and the need to fundamentally change the relationship between systems, services and our relationship with residents, the Strategy is presented as a ten-year plan, with reviews to take place annually taking into account progress made, as well as new challenges and opportunities arising. There will be a major review in the 2026/7 financial year.

There is a requirement that, on completion, we present our Strategy to the NHS ICB and the Health and Wellbeing Boards of our upper tier local authorities. The Strategy must be refreshed every time the upper tier local authorities publish a revised Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and/or a revised local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. In turn, the upper tier local authorities are required to consider the Integrated Care Strategy as they develop their own local plans. In addition, the ICB must have regard to the Integrated Care Strategy in how it exercises its statutory functions as the unitary authority for the NHS in Mid and South Essex. It should be noted that the ICP will never seek to diminish or weaken the sovereignty of our partner organisations and agencies or our powerful local Alliances, nor will our Strategy replace or replicate their strategies and operational plans. It is simply intended to identify those shared priorities on which we will all work together and describe how we will do so.

In preparing this Strategy, we have had regard for the regulatory and statutory requirements, particularly the four key aims established for ICS:

- Improving outcomes in population health and health care.
- Tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access.
- Enhancing productivity and value for money.
- Supporting broader social and economic development.

We have also had regard for the 'Triple Aim' established for NHS bodies that plan and commission services, which requires them to consider the effects of decisions on:

- The health and wellbeing of the people of England (including inequalities in that health and wellbeing).
- The quality of services provided or arranged by both themselves and other relevant bodies (including inequalities in benefits from those services).
- The sustainable and efficient use of resources by themselves and other relevant bodies.

For each of the key priorities outlined in this Strategy, there are 'I statements' describing the change that residents should expect to see as a result of partners implementing this Strategy.

There are also **'We statements'** confirming in broad terms the commitments the Partnership makes and how these will be measured. We number these (e.g., I7, W3) and include a date by which we will expect to have made progress (in the format, month/year). The detailed measures and milestones we will use to identify how we are performing will be developed further in the early stages of implementing our Strategy.

The Strategy will be published on the Mid and South Essex Integrated Care System website, in an accessible and engaging format, and will be regularly updated as work progresses, and changes are agreed by the Partnership as a result of new challenges and opportunities. The website will include examples of good practice, and the experiences of our staff, partners, and residents, all regularly updated. We have and will always ensure material related to this strategy is accessible to those with limited access to the internet.

1.9 The language we use

We recognise that it is natural that any group of people working together in a specific field or sector will create short-hand language and use acronyms and abbreviations to help them manage their work more efficiently. However, we will always seek to use accessible language and plain English, particularly when we are communicating with those new to our system or members of the public.

The Kings Fund provides a helpful glossary of commonly used health terms which can be found at this link: www.kingsfund.org.uk/

health-care-explained/jargon-buster

The 'Think Local Act Personal' glossary also includes terms related to social care and can be viewed at this link: www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/ Browse/Informationandadvice/ CareandSupportJargonBuster It is, however, important we have agreement on what we mean when using terms and phrases in this Strategy. When we use the word '**Residents**' we refer to all members of the community living and working in Mid and South Essex, including those who receive services from our partners. They might elsewhere be referred to as 'members of the public', 'citizens', 'service users', 'patients', 'clients' or 'beneficiaries'.

When we refer to '**services**' we mean the support provided now or in the future by our partners, including local health and social care agencies in the statutory sector (the NHS and local authorities) and those working as part of the voluntary, community, faith, or social enterprise sectors.

We use the word 'health' to refer to the mental or physical health of residents, and 'health services' when describing the services provided by our partners to support mental or physical health conditions as and when they arise.

We use the phrase 'social care' when referring to the non-health-related needs of residents, such as personal or home care, residential or day care, and the wider assistance residents may need to live their lives as comfortably and independently as possible. Care needs may arise as a result of age, illness, disability, or concerns regarding the safety of children or vulnerable adults. When we say 'social care services' we refer to the services provided by our partners which support social care outcomes. Very often, residents will need support from both health and social care services.

When we refer collectively to 'health and social care services' we include the broad range of health and wellbeing offers. For pregnant women and children, we include health visiting services, school nurses and a range of children and young people's health and wellbeing services.

We also acknowledge the valuable services our partners provide in formal and informal education, leisure, managing and caring for outdoor spaces and the environment, travel, highways, housing, planning and the work of our local schools, colleges, and universities, police, fire and coastguard services, which all play a crucial role in keeping us safe and well. All are considered central to helping our Partnership achieve its objectives we hold with equal value.

We use the phrase '**primary care**' to describe the services residents often use as the first point of contact with services for their health needs, usually provided by professionals such as GPs, pharmacists, dentists, and optometrists. We also include '**social prescribing**' in this definition, which is where professionals refer residents to support in the community to improve their health and wellbeing, and the services which make this happen.

The phrase '**urgent and emergency care**' is often used to refer to emergency health services, provided by accident and emergency departments at our three hospitals. However, in this Strategy, we are equally concerned about urgent social care services, such as those which respond when a child or vulnerable adult is in danger or requires immediate support to ensure their wellbeing is protected or when residents experience acute mental health crises.

When we say '**public health**' we refer to the statutory services which work to reduce the causes of ill-health and improve residents' health and wellbeing through, for example, health protection - action for clean air, water and food, infectious disease control, protection against environmental health hazards, chemical incidents, and other emergency responses.

Overall, it is our intention to use inclusive language. As such, when we present this Strategy to different audiences, we will ensure the language we use and the way we present the Strategy is accessible to the people we are addressing.

1.10 Risk, safeguarding and equality

Our Partnership recognises we all have responsibility to safeguard children and vulnerable adults and to promote equality and inclusion for all our residents. We will meet our statutory responsibilities and champion the highest standards in all we do, ensuring joint accountability when they fall short of our expectations. We will meet the Public Sector Equality Duty, but seek to go further, with our health and care system being an exemplar; setting a high standard for our Partners, our system and our communities.

We will support the development of shared approaches and tools, including health equality impact assessment approaches.

We acknowledge that risk thrives in gaps - the space between services and at transition points. It also occurs when our work goes unchecked and poor practice goes unchallenged. By working better together as Partners and with our residents and by having the space and opportunity to deal swiftly with challenges and to build on opportunities, and by ensuring our collective services and supports are of the highest quality and well connected, we will reduce risk.

1.11 Sustainability and the environment

Similarly, our Partnership recognises we all have a part to play in meeting sustainability goals and tackling the climate crisis. We recognise that the impact of not doing so will have significant detrimental impact on our residents and in particular those experiencing greater disadvantage. To support health and wellbeing of our residents, we must play our part in protecting our local and global environment and ecosystems, conserving natural resources, and supporting sustainable, thriving communities. It will remain a key cross-cutting theme in the work of our individual Partners, and for our ICP more broadly, particularly through our support of partnership initiatives through the Anchor Network.

Т

Our Common Endeavour

2.1 Reducing inequalities together

Central to our vision is the desire to see residents united with health and social care services around the single '**Common Endeavour**' of reducing inequalities together.

The Common Endeavour will express our desire to eliminate avoidable health and care inequalities by creating a broad and equal partnership of individuals, organisations, and agencies, focusing on prevention, early intervention and providing high-quality, joined-up health and social care services, when and where people need them.

It cannot be achieved by statutory partners alone. We must invite voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise organisations, residents, and others to join us in our Common Endeavour. Together we will work to significantly increase our focus on individual and community engagement, wider determinants, early intervention and prevention, with a transformed role for communities in relation to health and social care and with residents helping themselves and each other.

To achieve this will necessitate an alignment of our efforts, with the ICP acting as the fulcrum for engagement and community mobilisation, working alongside statutory and voluntary services and involving a 're-setting' of our partnership with residents.

We will develop a simple, accessible, and inclusive campaign model, in which residents and services agree on a 'shared social mission of purpose', through which we will harness the full potential of all contributors.

The 'ask' of us as residents is we do everything we can to maintain our own health and wellbeing and that of our families, neighbours, and communities, keeping health and care services 'in reserve' for when we need them most. The corresponding 'ask' of the ICS will be: firstly, to support people to manage their own health by helping 'upstream' in a cost-effective manner before problems become serious, expensive, and irretrievable 'downstream'; secondly, to integrate provision around the individual once they need formal services.

We recognise working together on this Common Endeavour will require, **commitment**, **courage** and most importantly, **trust**. Working together positively to build these will be a central theme for our Partnership.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

• We will work together with our communities to develop a simple and accessible campaign which unites residents and services around a Common Endeavour, which will be owned by residents and the widest possible range of partners and stakeholders. (W1 - 09/23)

I STATEMENTS

 I will understand what the ICS is and how I can contribute to improving health and social care outcomes for myself, my family, and my neighbourhood. (I1 - 03/24 and ongoing)

2.2 A new model partnership

Working to this Common Endeavour will require a new model of partnership. Alongside continued influence from the statutory boards and forums which feed into the ICP, we will need to become much broader and more inclusive, ensuring engagement of a more diverse range of contributors, feeding into the formal ICP meetings themselves.

Non-statutory partners are keen to have a prominent voice in our Partnership and to see their role reflected in its strategy. We believe an 'equal value partnership', where the contributions of all partners, large and small, are equally valued and fed through into the partnership, will enable us to achieve better outcomes for the residents of Mid and South Essex.



Integrated Care System Conceptual Model - Present State



Integrated Care System Conceptual Model - Future State

(Lines delineates elements we consider to be inside 'the system'.) Currently, several potentially powerful partners and allies (e.g., private adult social care providers, community pharmacy, schools, colleges and early years providers and users of services) feel peripheral in terms of voice and influence and insufficiently co-opted into the system for supporting health and care outcomes.

As such, we propose to engage a more diverse set of organisations and individuals than have previously been able to contribute to the development of health and care strategies. To achieve this, our Partnership will bring together the following initial standing groups to support and influence the work of our Partnership:

- A Community Assembly.
- An Independent and Private Providers' Network.
- A Community Voices Network.

The Community Assembly will provide an opportunity for us to connect around universal and societal challenges. Distinctive in its diversity of voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sector actors, the co-production of an Assembly model will support the amplification of best practice approaches that embrace human learning systems, drive better community representation, increase creativity in problem solving and insight gathering with communities of place, purpose, and interest. If we are to act purposefully and learn together as a whole system, the Assembly model is critical in creating the foundations of resilient, resident-led communities that can level up equitably.

The Independent and Private Providers Network will meet the guidance that the ICP engages positively with adult social care providers and brings together the diverse experiences of partners operating commercially to provide health and care services including for adults and children. The Partnership is keen to ensure there is positive engagement, so we hear and are able to address the challenges and opportunities with our independent and private providers, to support market maturity, market development and build capacity.

The Community Voices Network will focus and share the community engagement work being undertaken across our system and at a local Alliance level, and by our Healthwatch partners.

Engagement of partners and stakeholders will not be an occasional duty but a permanent feature of the work of our Partnership. There will be a range of debates, talks, and workshops throughout the year, feeding into and from an annual symposium or conference.

These will be open to all contributors, not just those organisations and individuals who attend the statutory Partnership meetings.

There will be a clear agreement defining how partners give and receive support to each other as part of our Partnership. It will include the new proposed forums, as well as existing forums and networks. Assisting the development of trust and respect for contributions from voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sector partners, independent and private providers, education partners and residents.

The Partnership will not just be a 'talking shop', it will set specific tasks and require tools and resources to complete them. Initially, a small, agile infrastructure will support the work of the Partnership, but this will grow over time as we demonstrate the impact of this way of working and as we identify additional opportunities. All Partners will be expected to contribute time, skills, and expertise as part of the ongoing work of the ICP.

The Partnership must work differently if the population's confidence in the system is to be regained and maintained and our long-term health and care challenges met. The Partnership needs to be agile and purposeful, bring together the resources needed to do the job and have a clear focus on the 'destination' (i.e., what we want to achieve) and the 'journey' (i.e., how we will work together to achieve it).

2.3. Working together locally

As a Partnership, we firmly believe that we act best, when we act locally. This is often described as the 'subsidiarity' principle, which asserts that any central authority should have a subsidiary, or secondary role performing only those tasks which cannot be performed at a more local level. As such, we will always do work where work is best done. This will include the following:

Neighbourhoods:

The areas covered by our 27 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and local neighbourhood teams, etc.

Places:

The areas covered by our four Alliances, covering Mid Essex, Basildon and Brentwood, Thurrock and South East Essex.

System:

The whole of Mid and South Essex.

We have set up the Integrated Care System to work at a system, place, and neighbourhood level, because needs, challenges and opportunities differ at each level of our operation. What might be good for Tilbury, for example, may not be right for the Dengie; what works for Braintree, may not be right for Basildon.

The strength of work at a local level is demonstrated by the partnerships formed by our powerful local Alliances, Councils and Health and Wellbeing Boards, alongside Primary Care Networks and Healthwatch organisations, and our community and voluntary sector associations. Examples include integrated neighbourhood teams, including Local Area Coordinator services, PCN Aligned Community Teams (PACT) and our developing Social Prescribing offers.

"Co-production is when you as an individual influence the support and services you receive, or when groups of people get together to influence the way that services are designed, commissioned and delivered"

The Care Act 2014 - Care and Support Statutory Guidance

Т

We will also work together, championing co-production as the foundation of successful action across our system.

We are also committed to supporting personalised care, so residents have choice and control over the way their care is planned and delivered. Based on 'what matters' to us as residents, and our individual strengths and needs, we will support the six principles of personalised care:

- 1. Shared decision making.
- 2. Personalised care and support planning.
- 3. Enabling choice, including legal rights to choice.
- 4. Social prescribing and community-based support.
- 5. Supported self-management.
- 6. Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets.

Our commitment to working together, locally, recognises we can only achieve the change we wished to see, by harnessing all the talents, building personal and community resilience and mobilising communities effectively around our Common Endeavour.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

- We will develop and maintain a map of the statutory boards and forums which feed into the work of the ICP and ensure there are clear mechanisms for communicating to and from these forums. (W2 10/23 and ongoing)
- We will ensure that our non-statutory partners are equally valued within our Partnership are demonstrably able to influence and contribute to achieving our shared objectives. (W3 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- We will engage with partners who do not currently attend our ICP and ensure that they are able to influence and contribute to achieving our shared objectives. (W4 - 09/23)
- We will establish a Community Assembly, an Independent and Private Providers Network, and a Community Voices Network to ensure a wider range of partners are able to influence and contribute to achieving our shared objectives. (W5 - 09/23)
- We will develop an ongoing series of community conversations, workshops, seminars, and engagement activities, which draw together a much wider set of contributors into the work of our ICP. (W6 - 04/23 and ongoing)
- We will always seek to work at the most appropriate local level, supporting our Alliances and local partnerships. (W7 - 09/23 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

- I will recognise the ICS and the ICP as a force for change, and value and respect the contributions being made to improve health and care outcomes at a local level and together. (I2 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- I will experience health and care services as being both locally and individually responsive to my needs and those of my neighbourhood. (I3 - 09/23 and ongoing)

Our shared objectives and priorities

3.1 Defining and reviewing our shared priorities

The first task for us has been to develop a clear model which articulates our Common Endeavour, alongside our Partner Priorities, Community Priorities, and key System Priorities, on which we will work together to help meet our objectives. It is, in effect, a 'plan on a page' which helps focus our thinking as a Partnership and as a System.



Integrated Care Strategy 2023-2033

The Strategy indicates, in general terms, our shared priorities and the direction we wish to move in. However, one of our first tasks will be to develop and agree a 'Theory of Change' followed by an accompanying 'Logic Model', a detailed description and illustration of how and why we feel our desired changes will happen at a system and community level, along with a graphical depiction of the chain of causes and effects and contributing factors which we anticipate will contribute to achieving our desired outcomes. With this, we will develop a set of outcomes and measures, building on those we have already established as a Partnership and as individual Partners, which we will use to review our progress. We will undertake this work with independent support and challenge from our university partners, ensuring we are developing our approach based on the latest research evidence of what has been shown to work in health, social care, and community development.

The ICP will review progress on our agreed outcomes and measures, publishing an annual report on progress.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

- We will work together with the support of our university partners to develop an overarching Theory of Change/Logic Model, and a detailed set of outcome measures. (W8 - 04/23 and ongoing)
- We will review our progress regularly and produce an annual report demonstrating the difference we are making. (W9 - 03/24 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

• I will be confident the health and care system in Mid and South Essex is working purposefully and with clear aims and objectives, reporting regularly on progress and holding the wider system to account. (I4 - 03/24 and ongoing)



The ICP agrees there are four key areas where our Partner's priorities align, referred to as the north, south, east, and west of our Integrated Care Strategy.

4.1 Determinants of health

At the 'north' of our Strategy is our recognition that having access to high quality health and social care services only plays a part in ensuring we have good health and wellbeing. Much more important are a range of other factors which have nothing to do with hospitals, doctors, nurses, or social workers. Some of these we cannot control that much, but others we can - and should - try to influence. Moving forward, the role of our Partnership will be increasingly about working together to tackle the wider determinants of health (sometimes referred to as 'social determinants of health').

The model below, based upon the work of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, demonstrates the areas where we can an impact on health and care outcomes for our communities.



Source: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute in US to rank countries by health status

With its broad and inclusive membership, the ICP is uniquely placed to lead work to address the wider determinants of health, working closely with our local Alliances and health and Wellbeing Boards and other partnerships. The coming together of our NHS services, children's and adult social care and public health, with our partners in district, borough, and city councils, the voluntary, community, faith, and social enterprise sector, plus our experience as leading 'anchor institutions', gives us the opportunity to ensure we are using all the tools available to create circumstances in which our communities can have good health and wellbeing. Moreover, as we develop our partnership with communities themselves, we can ensure they are able to mobilise, at an individual, family and community level, to be part of the change they wish to see.

We will promote key cross-sectoral developments, such as 'Health in All Policies' and 'Health Inequality Impact Assessments' which seek to reinforce our commitment to tackling the wider determinants of health together.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

I STATEMENTS

- We will work together across our Partnership to address the wider determinants of health which impact on health and care outcomes for our communities and promote cross-sectoral developments which reinforce this approach. (W10 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- I will see progress in tackling wider determinants of health, including socio-economic factors, healthy behaviours and the built environment. (15 - 03/24 and ongoing)

4.2 Core20PLUS5 - health priorities for all ages

To the 'south' of our Strategy, is the Core20PLUS5 framework developed by government with engagement from a wide range of partners and stakeholders. This recognises the groups, across all ages, who experience the greatest health inequalities and the specific conditions where outcomes are poorest. The framework provides a powerful starting point for our actions to address inequalities. The frameworks include the following:

For adults

- Core20: The most deprived 20% of the national population as identified by the national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The IMD has seven domains with indicators accounting for a wide range of social determinants of health.
 - PLUS: Population groups identified at a local level. Populations we would expect to see identified are ethnic minority communities; people with a learning disability and autistic people; people with multiple long-term health conditions; other groups that share protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010; groups experiencing social exclusion, known as inclusion health groups, coastal communities (where there may be small areas of high deprivation hidden amongst relative affluence). Inclusion health groups include people experiencing homelessness, drug and alcohol dependence, vulnerable migrants including refugees and asylum seekers, gypsy, roma and traveller communities, sex workers, people in contact with the justice system, victims of modern slavery and other socially excluded groups.

In Mid and South Essex, we have identified gypsy, roma and traveller communities, black, asian, and minoritised ethnic communities, carers, adults with learning disabilities and autism, homeless people, veterans, armed forces communities and their families, care leavers, and victims of domestic abuse and domestic violence.

As a Partnership, we will work to better understand the needs of these groups and engage proactively with communities to do so. We will encourage our Partners to work closely with these communities in the planning and delivery of services.

- **Five:** There are five clinical areas of focus which require accelerated improvement. Governance for these areas sits with national programmes; national and regional teams coordinate activity across local systems to achieve national aims.
 - 1. Maternity: Ensuring continuity of care for women from Black, Asian and minoritised ethnic communities and from the most deprived groups. This model of care requires appropriate staffing levels to be implemented safely.
 - 2. Severe mental illness (SMI): Ensuring annual health checks for at least 60% of those living with SMI (bringing SMI in line with the success seen in learning disabilities).
 - 3. Chronic respiratory disease: A clear focus on Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) driving up the uptake of COVID-19, flu, and pneumonia vaccines to reduce infective exacerbations and emergency hospital admissions.
 - 4. Early cancer diagnosis: 75% of cases diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 by 2028.
 - 5. Hypertension case-finding and optimal management and lipid optimal management: Interventions to optimise blood pressure and minimise the risk of myocardial infarction and stroke.

In addition, we recognise smoking cessation is a cross cutting priority because smoking tobacco has an impact on all of these five health conditions. Locally, we would add to this list tackling rates of obesity.

The NHS Core20PLUS5 model for adults can be viewed at the following link: www.england. nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/nationalhealthcare-inequalitiesimprovement-programme/ core20plus5/ For babies, children, and young people

- Core20: The most deprived 20% of the national population as identified by the national Index of multiple deprivation (IMD). The IMD has seven domains with indicators accounting for a wide range of social determinants of health. For children and young people wider sources of data may also be helpful including the national child mortality database and data available on the Fingertips platform.
- **PLUS:** Population groups including ethnic minority communities; inclusion health groups; people with a learning disability and autism; coastal communities with pockets of deprivation hidden amongst relative affluence; people with multi-morbidities; and protected characteristic groups; amongst others. There should be specific inclusion of young carers, looked after children/care leavers and those in contact with the justice system. Inclusion health groups focus on children and young people where their families include people experiencing homelessness, drug and alcohol dependence, vulnerable migrants, gypsy, roma and traveller communities, sex workers, people in contact with the justice system, victims of modern slavery and other socially excluded groups.
- Five: The final part sets out five clinical areas of focus. The five areas of focus are part of wider actions for ICB and ICPs to achieve system change and improve care for children and young people. Governance for these five focus areas sits with national programmes, whilst national and regional teams coordinate local systems to achieve these aims.
 - 1. Asthma: Address over reliance on reliever medications and decrease the number of asthma attacks.
 - 2. Diabetes: Increase access to real-time continuous glucose monitors and insulin pumps across the most deprived quintiles and from ethnic minority backgrounds and increase proportion of those with Type 2 diabetes receiving recommended NICE care processes.

Т

- 3. Epilepsy: Increase access to epilepsy specialist nurses and ensure access in the first year of care for those with a learning disability or autism.
- 4. Oral health: Tooth extractions due to decay for children admitted as inpatients in hospital, aged 10 years and under.
- Mental health: Improve access rates to children and young people's mental health services for 0-17 year olds, for certain ethnic groups, age, gender, and deprivation.

The NHS Core20PLUS5 model for babies, children and young people can be viewed at the following link: www.england.nhs. uk/about/equality/equality-hub/nationalhealthcare-inequalitiesimprovement-programme/ core20plus5/core20plus5-cyp/

As a Partnership, we also recognise the impact of 'co-morbidity' (where a resident has two or more diseases or medical conditions). Residents frequently have several conditions and if we can connect services provided by different partners across health and social care and wider community support, we will more effectively address the underlying lifestyle and behaviour issues which may be causing ill health.

We also recognise that 'intersectionality' (the interconnected nature of social categorisations such as race, class, and gender disability) can apply to a given individual or group, regarded as creating overlapping and interdependent systems of discrimination or disadvantage.

"Intersectionality is a metaphor for understanding the ways that multiple forms of inequality or disadvantage sometimes compound themselves and create obstacles that often are not understood among conventional ways of thinking"

Professor Kimberlé Crenshaw

For both children and adults, this framework establishes very specific national targets for improving health outcomes, but through the 'Plus' groups, we are encouraged to respond to local needs and the unique characteristics of our population in Mid and South Essex. The ICP will regularly review local data and evidence identifying the local characteristics which identify priority groups in our area.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

I STATEMENTS

- We will work together across our Partnership to address the priorities identified in the Core20PLUS5 frameworks. (W11 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- We will work together to define our local Core20PLUS5 targets and measures and review progress annually. (W12 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- We will work with our local Alliances to regularly review and update those local characteristics which form our priority PLUS groups. (W13 - 09/23 and annually)

- I will see progress in tackling long standing health inequalities for all ages. (16 -03/24 and ongoing)
- I will see improvement in outcomes in the specific clinical areas. (I7 - 03/24 and ongoing)

Т

4.3 Adult Care

To the 'east' of our Strategy, is our recognition that our Partnership must act together on the challenges it faces, in offering and receiving support for broader adult health and social care needs. We will work to support Partners meeting the needs of adults in health and social care and support the development and delivery of their own strategic priorities and operational plans. In particular, we will focus on the following areas:



The ageing population

We have an ageing population with increasing demands for support from those living with dementia, increased frailty, and the range of health conditions which are related to old age and their carers. The demands for domiciliary or home care and residential care for those unable to live independently, is and will continue to cause significant pressure on our systems and services. Enabling older people to remain at home, for as long as possible, is both a practical and moral imperative. We recognise a number of health conditions impact on quality of life, including those related to mobility, chronic pain, cataracts and glaucoma, etc.

Mental health and suicide prevention

Providing support and treatment for those experiencing mental ill health, including treatment for serious mental illness and suicide prevention is a key challenge. Services are stretched to their limits and in some cases are failing residents. Partners are committed to working upstream, harnessing the reach of our wider Partnership to prevent mild to moderate mental health problems leading to serious mental illness and to deal with mental health needs effectively as a Partnership. We will work to ensure we have high quality, safe inpatient care, including psychiatric intensive care, where required, and inpatient stays are as short and as close to home as possible.

Learning disabilities and autism

Partners agree that adults with learning disabilities and autism should be a particular focus of attention, recognising outcomes are significantly worse across a range of measures for this group. Partners are committed to improving access to and take-up of preventative services, including regular health checks and screening, developing sustainable personal assistant support, mentoring and outreach services. We wish to see a reduction in the need for inpatient accommodation and prompt discharge to community care. In Mid and South Essex, we have a strong and vibrant voluntary sector, including user-led organisations, which we will work with to build the effectiveness of our support for adults with learning disabilities and autism and to engage residents with lived experiences in the design and delivery of services.

High-intensity users of services including alcohol and substance misuse

In Mid and South Essex, we have undertaken successful pilot projects tackling high intensity users of multiple services, including alcohol and substance misuse. We recognise that these users, often with multiple health and social care needs, place extreme demands on our primary and urgent and emergency care, our adult social care services, and for our partners working in housing, policing and community safety. They challenge the communities in which they live. In many cases, these residents have extremely poor quality of life and health outcomes. We will build on our experiences to develop and refine multi-agency interventions, alongside our communities, to prevent residents from becoming high-intensity users, and to manage support better in the community.

Adult end of life and palliative care

We have some outstanding services in adult end of life and palliative care, particularly through our local hospice services. As a partnership, we are well placed to meet and exceed the guidance for services, including addressing inequity of access to services, strengthening, and aligning commissioning, and building community capabilities.

Loneliness and isolation

For adults of all ages, loneliness and isolation are known to worsen health outcomes, reduce healthy life expectancy, and quality of life, adding pressure on services. We have heard a clear message from residents that they want to address loneliness and isolation, in both our rural and urban communities, and our partnerships with primary care networks, social prescribing and the voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sector, will support this work.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

I STATEMENTS

 We will work together to define our local targets and measures for Adult Health and Social Care and review progress annually. (W14 - 09/23 and ongoing) I will see significant improvement in adult health and wellbeing outcomes (18-03/24 and ongoing)

4.4 Babies, children and young people

To the '**west**' of our Strategy is our recognition that we must get things right for babies, children, and young people because they deserve the very best start in life, but also because this can lead to long-term improvement in outcomes of adults. We have excellent examples of partnership working in this area and strong service offers. We will continue to focus our efforts on:



Maternity and early years health and care

Maternity and early years health and care is an area served by a wide variety of service providers in a wide range of locations across Mid and South Essex. We will support our Partners by sharing learning and offering support with connecting services and offers, to ensure consistency of approach and improvement in outcomes. In particular, we will support the work undertaken by our health visiting and school nursing services and wider children and family wellbeing services, including in our excellent family hubs and children's centres, recognising the unique role these services can offer to ensuring families are strong and resilient and able to gain access to support when and where they need it.

We recognise that there is inequality in outcome within maternity services, and system performance challenges. We will work together to tackle these and to ensure all maternity and early years health and care services are connected and aligned.

Children and adolescent mental health

We recognise that there is a growing problem with children and adolescent mental health and, in many cases, demand is outpacing capacity. As with adults, our Partnership is uniquely placed to work upstream, tackling the causes of mental health issues for children and young people, including adverse childhood experiences, supporting families, and building children and young people's resilience and access to support for mild or moderate mental health issues. We will work to ensure we have high quality, safe child and adolescent mental health services, and high-quality local inpatient care where needed, and that any interventions or treatments are as effective as possible and connected to long-term support within the community and in our schools and colleges.

Special educational needs and disabilities

Providing effective support for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities is an area where most of our Partners, including those in health, education, and social care, have a statutory duty, and where close partnership working is essential to ensure needs are met. This is an area where our partners have experienced challenge, and are working proactively with parents and carers to build more effective local offers. In Mid and South Essex, we have strong and effective Parent Carer Forums, keen to support the evolution of services for children with special educational needs and disabilities, and we will work with them closely to ensure early identification of needs, prompt and effective referral to specialist support, and in the design and delivery of service offers.

Prevention of adult health conditions

We recognise that many long-term adult health conditions are seeded in childhood, including conditions related to healthy weight, poor diet and nutrition, limited access to healthy lifestyles and exercise, mental health, and speech and language development. Early action by Partners, to tackle concerns about the health and wellbeing of children, ensuring families are supported to make healthy lifestyle choices and children are forming good habits, will stave off many longterm issues.

Maternal and children's healthy weight

Our partnership is particularly concerned to see joined-up action on childhood obesity and maternal and children's healthy weight, which we recognise as one of the key factors contributing to longer-term health conditions.

Education including the healthy schools' programmes

We recognise that our colleagues in education play an important role in supporting the health and wellbeing of children and young people, often without due recognition of support. Developing our support for early years settings and schools will have a significant impact on improving population health outcomes. Education is also recognised as one of the wider determinants of health. Children and young people, who do well at school and move into secure employment and housing, have better outcomes across a range of measures. We also recognise the unique challenges and opportunities that arise within our special education and alternative provision settings, and where children are home-schooled (elective home educated children). Our Partnership will strengthen relationships with our education colleagues, ensuring they are supported and can effectively offer support with improving health and social care outcomes for children and young people.**Health inequalities experienced by looked after children and care leavers**

Our partnership recognises that looked after children experience significant health inequality, and we will work closely with our children's social care partners to ensure they receive access to excellent healthcare services, which are codesigned to address the unique barriers they experience.

Children's end of life and palliative care

As with adults, our ambition is to meet and exceed the guidance for children's end of life and palliative care, including addressing inequity of access to services, strengthening, and aligning commissioning and building community capabilities.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

 We will work together to define our local targets and measures for Children's Health and Social Care and review progress annually. (W15 - 09/23 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

 I will see significant improvement in health, care and wellbeing outcomes for babies, children, and young people (19 - 03/24 and ongoing)

4.5 The first 5,000 households

Partners agree that, in addition to identifying specific thematic priorities, we will also work together to identify a specific cohort of residents we will prioritise and work with. Our starting point will focus on a group of priority families and individuals experiencing the worst health and care outcomes.

A targeted, practical approach will allow us to innovate and learn about how the partnership can work in a highly collaborative way across organisational boundaries to better understand and support the needs of these households. It will include a major focus on prevention and early intervention across the wider determinants of health.

The 'First 5,000' households will be the initial focus of our Common Endeavour. We will work together as a partnership to define who is in this group, understand its needs, and develop and deliver a plan of collective action. We will agree on clear workstreams (e.g., data sharing and common referral mechanisms), timings, measures of success and accountabilities to track progress. The work of our Population Health Management team will be central in developing this work.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

I STATEMENTS

- We will identify a specific cohort of c.5,000 households experiencing poor health and care outcomes and develop and deliver a plan to better understand and support their needs. (W16 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- I will see real progress in tackling the needs of the most vulnerable members of my community. (I10 - 03/24 and ongoing)

6 Community Priorities

5.1 Access

Our communities are particularly concerned about having good access to primary care and ensuring residents use the full range of primary care services available, including community pharmacy, social prescribing, etc. They are also concerned about pressures on urgent and emergency care (NHS and Social Care) and ambulances. They want care brought closer to home and a greater emphasis on personalised care solutions and choices.

5.2 Openness

For many of our residents, the health and social care system looks like a closed book, something that keeps its conversations to itself. This leads to both a lack of trust and a feeling of disengagement. At its most extreme, the system is seen to close ranks when things go wrong, rather than being open and honest.

For our health and care system to flourish in Mid and South Essex, we need to embrace an openness that has not yet been achieved in many places in the UK. For our Partnership with residents to mean anything at all, we must be honest about what is and is not going well and what we can all do to make things better, together. This kind of dialogue already happens in small pockets - including our three Healthwatch organisations - but these are quite small conversations. We need much bigger conversations that take place from a starting point of openness and trust in our residents. We need to talk with residents about what they can expect from services, including primary care, urgent and emergency care, and children's and adult social care.

5.3 Involvement

It is important we work together to build trust – both in and from services and accept when things have gone wrong and learn fast from feedback and criticism. To do so, we must create more, and more varied, opportunities for residents to become involved in the work of our Partnership.

We are keen to define our communities as much by their capabilities, talents, and strengths, as by their perceived deficits - illness, deprivation, needs, etc. If our vision of a Common Endeavour is to flourish, we need to be able to build on these strengths as well as what might be missing in communities. It's a shift of mindset, certainly on the part of statutory bodies and even some voluntary and community sector organisations: a shift from doing 'to' towards doing 'with'.

All of this points to our Partnership having much stronger, active engagement with residents than is the case now. Historically, these residents have been marginal to the overall health and social care agenda in terms of resources. Funding for voluntary and community sector and community development and mobilisation has been fixedterm and finite - the first to be cut back when system pressures arise. This will need to change if we are to build the community cohesion, resilience, and mutual support necessary to shift the dial in terms of helping residents to maintain their own health and that of their families and communities.

Our Partnership is committed to developing coproductive practice, expanding engagement and mobilising communities, voluntary, community, faith, and social enterprise sectors and local businesses and employees, so they can become part of the change they wish to see.

Our local Alliances will be front and centre in this work, feeding through to the ICP directly and via the Community Assembly and Community Voices Network. We will use all the tools available to us, including digital engagement and social media, but, recognising the impact of the 'digital divide', we will always offer different ways for people to become involved

5.4 Awareness

Some of our residents describe the heath and care system as a 'mystery' and, potentially, a 'minefield'. For our future health and social care system to work, it must be better at explaining how it works, what services are available and where, and what can and cannot be done. A big part of this is about creating one 'front door' for support. Where this has been tried, it has been successful. This involves abolishing many of the distinctions in the health and social care services that mean everything to professionals, but next to nothing to residents. One front door, both digitally and in real world services. We will work across our Partnership, particularly with our Healthwatch partners who have been promoting this agenda for some time.

5.5 Responsibility

The best way we can improve our health and wellbeing is by seeing ourselves as part of a team. Even a tiny decision we, as residents, make about the health and wellbeing of ourselves, a family member, or someone in our community might help cut waiting times, ease pressure at A&E, or even save a life by helping an ambulance be ready to respond to an emergency. We should think of health and social care like a 'chain' of events. Every time we do something - however big or small - we change something further along the 'chain'.

For example, by taking daily exercise (even a walk in the park) we improve our health, and we may only see our GP four times in a year, not nine. By sharing our experience of parenthood with a new mum and directing her to trusted sources of information and advice, we might eliminate an unnecessary visit to an overcrowded A&E.

If we need help, the health and social care system is always there, but we should think about using it like climbing up a ladder: always start on the lowest step - like asking friends or family for advice. If that will not do, we can visit our local pharmacy, before going to our GP. What's important is we do not put pressure on the same parts of the system when there are lots of other options.

The best thing we can do to help is to look after ourselves. Every GP appointment or hospital visit that does not happen releases pressure on the system. Stopping smoking, being more active, and looking after our mental health will make a massive difference up the 'chain' if enough of us do it. Everyone in our community is part of making things better. However, we must not be discouraged from seeking early help when needed or accessing urgent and emergency care at times of crisis.

Our aim is to build strong and resilient communities, where people are able to support themselves, their families, neighbourhoods, and the wider communities. We will grow a spirit of purposeful 'volunteerism' at the heart of our system.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

- We will create 'one front door' for residents to access the vast majority of health and care services. (W17 - 04/23 and ongoing)
- We will work together to define our local targets for community resilience, mobilisation and transformation, and review progress annually. (W18 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- We will be open and honest about what is and isn't going well, why, and what we can all do to make things better. (W19 - 04/23 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

- I will feel my care is closer to home and more personalised. (I11 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- I will feel that everyone in our community is part of making health and care better and understand my part in that team effort. (I12 - 03/24 and ongoing)

6 System Priorities

6.1 System pressures

We are all aware of the pressure on our systems at both primary care, urgent and emergency care, ambulances, waiting lists for treatment including elective surgery, challenges with safe discharge from hospital and pressure on children and adult social care.

Our Partnership will work together to tackle acute system pressure and bottlenecks, managing resources effectively and engaging a wider range of partners and communities in supporting the improvements we wish to see.

We will plan ahead, developing protocols for mobilising wider support for the times when we know the system will be under pressure and to support us with unexpected challenges.

6.2 Workforce recruitment, retention, and development

We are facing unprecedented challenges in recruitment and retention across the health, social care, and community sectors. Some of this is beyond the control of our ICP and will take time to put right.

We will develop a 'one workforce' approach, that aligns people strategies across our system, and will seek to make Mid and South Essex a place that values and develops the talents of our people. We will recognise the importance of 'skills' as opposed to focusing on traditional 'roles' when determining who we need to undertake specific pieces of work. We will also utilise the talents of a wider range of people including, for example, practice nurses, community pharmacists, social prescribers, and voluntary sector staff. We will recognise and support initiatives which develop our allied health professionals, who deliver high-quality care to patients and clients across a wide range of care pathways and in a variety of different settings. We will have equal interest in those providing services in our large institutions, and those working in the community and in residents' homes (including the public, private and voluntary sector).

Our employed staff will be supported by a growing body of well-trained volunteers, working to ensure the precious time of our clinical and social work professionals are put to best use.

Whilst we recognise the work is often challenging, we will prioritise safe working and a good work life balance, and ensure we do not place our clinical, ancillary and support staff, social work professionals and voluntary sector workforce under undue pressure. We will work to ensure staff are supported and protected from harm, and can work flexibly, where they have caring responsibilities themselves, or to maintain their own health and wellbeing. We will work closely with our employed and voluntary colleagues, to ensure they are supported and supportive of our Common Endeavour.

We will work with our Anchor Network of larger institutions, to grow and develop workforce development initiatives and engage closely with our partners in secondary, further, and higher education, to develop the pipeline for our future workforce in both health and care settings, in the public, private and voluntary sector.

6.3 Early intervention and prevention

The evidence on the effectiveness of early intervention and prevention is overwhelming. It saves not only millions of pounds but also untold levels of human illness and suffering.

This starts with our 'First 5,000 households', working with those people who, without early support, will experience poor outcomes and become a much bigger weight on the health and care system. We will support them now so they need fewer health and care services down the line. We will use all the tools and talents available to us, including those in all our communities, and will invest in new models of care and support we know will save us money 'downstream' – and make for happier healthier lives for our residents.

We will develop a unified population health improvement approach, building on the best available population health management evidence, and create space for innovation, in health and social care and public health, and within our voluntary, community, faith, and social enterprise sector and local businesses. We recognise 'non-medicalised' community-based support is often best placed to achieve the change we wish to see, and will explore new models of investment, seeking to resolve the challenge of unlocking resources for preventative work now, when the benefits will not be experienced, in some cases, for many years to come.

6.4 Connecting care

In the engagement work for this Strategy, one of the biggest concerns of residents was the disconnected nature of health and care services. We will work to ensure better connection between services, refinement of pathways and effective joint commissioning and accountability. From a resident's perspective, we want people to experience health and care as one seamless, integrated offer of support.

6.5 Digital, data and shared records

We will develop strong shared data and digital systems to provide insight and enable evidencebased decision making with the aim of improving the health and wellbeing of the local population, reducing inequalities, and addressing current and future needs.

At the same time, any newly developed digital solutions will be more resident-centric in their approach and design, empowering residents to take greater control of digital presence within our system. We will also use digital tools to communicate and engage with our residents and help them join us in our Common Endeavour, whilst remaining aware of the need to address the 'digital divide' supporting those who do not have access to digital technologies.

This will drive economies of scale and standardisation of technologies, as well as supporting the delivery of more coordinated care and enabling our health and care professionals to do their jobs more efficiently. We will support our Population Health Management team, in developing consistent, reliable evidence about the needs of our residents and the approaches evidence demonstrates will have best impact (i.e., 'actionable insights').

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

- We will work together to define our local targets for dealing with system priorities, challenges and opportunities and review progress annually. (W20 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- We will significantly improve the recruitment and retention of staff across the health and care system by adopting a 'one workforce' approach, making people feel more valued, empowered, developed, and respected. (W21 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- We will increasingly invest in prevention and early. (W22 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- We will develop shared data and digital systems across the Partnership to provide greater insight and enable evidence-based decision making. (W23 - 03/24 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

- I will feel that health and care services are much more 'joined up' and I only need to tell my story once. (I13 - 03/24 and ongoing)
- I will feel that my health and care needs were identified and supported early enough to reduce the need for higher-level services and increase my chances of living independently. (I14 - 03/24 and ongoing)

7 How we will work together

7.1 Shape of the partnership

Broad and Inclusive membership

To work as it should, the ICP will draw upon the skills and experience of partners beyond the NHS and councils and will reach deep into our community and voluntary organisations.

Through the actions identified previously, we will ensure all potential contributors are able to engage in our work, and join us in our Common Endeavour, and will regularly review and develop our approach to engaging with wider partners, including local business, leisure, schools, colleges, environmental protection, etc.

We will proactively seek the involvement of minoritised communities, many of which experience worse health outcomes. The idea of the ICP is to bring the voices and influence of the community into the conversation to help shape the way resources are allocated.

We will always engage with and involve specialist bodies, including local safeguarding partnerships, to ensure we are working with the best available advice and support.

Engagement with residents and partners

Engagement is not a one-off event; it will be a continuing conversation. The ICP will become the focus for engagement work, as a collecting point for a range of views and perspectives from Partners and the many forums seeking insight from residents. The Community Assembly, Independent and Private Providers' Network and Community Voices Network, will be central to this objective and the ICP will conduct continuing outreach as part of its work so residents and diverse partners have clear routes for influencing and contributing to the work of the ICP. We will champion the benefits of co-production, support Partners by sharing experiences, promote training and continuing professional development, and explore the creation of co-production toolkits.

Space and time for relationship building

The ICP is not just a collection of voices, it is also a place to curate relationships between different parts of our health and care system. This takes time and effort, particularly with those parts of the system where there is little history of working together, or when previous efforts have not been successful. Experience tells us that 'change happens at the speed of trust' and stronger relationships are key to making health and social care work better. We see the ICP as a focus for making these relationships as productive as possible.

7.2 Ways of working

Equal value partnership

The principle that all the participants in the ICP are of equal value is central to its success. We will always value the role of our NHS Partners, local authorities, and wider contributors equally.

For a long time, many of the organisations involved in health and care, particularly at community level, have felt like second-class players in the conversation about the kind of health and care services we need. This has meant that many have slowly become disengaged or frustrated. The ICP is about resetting this and underlining the fundamental role of the wider community in the way health and care is planned and delivered.

System, place, neighbourhoods

We are organising much of our efforts in the ICP at the most appropriate local level. This should mean we have as much decision-making as possible coming from the places and people affected by those decisions. So, the principle of subsidiarity, distributed leadership and working at place will be at the core of all we do.

We are also building good relationships with our neighbouring systems:

- Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System.
- Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System.
- North East London Integrated Care System.

Where it is appropriate and adds value, we will work with our neighbours, particularly across the whole Essex footprint, where there is learning to be shared or innovation which can be jointly developed, to ensure consistency of experience and outcomes for our residents.

We will tell the story of our progress and our successes nationally and internationally, particularly through our work with university partners, recognising that building our reputation will lead to greater opportunity for investment in our local work.

Sovereignty of member organisations

Our Integrated Care System is an attempt to bring together many independent organisations and agencies, rather than create a single organisational entity. The Partnership is designed to be the glue holding this together and maximising cooperation and collaboration between its constituent parts.

While we will want to ensure that residents benefit, where needed, from 'one front door' when dealing with the health and care system, this support will, in reality, come from a wide range of different 'sovereign' organisations.

We have a number of proactive and powerful boards, partnerships and forums and a well established Anchor Network, and will ensure they are supported and have the opportunity to share their work through the ICP. In turn, we ask that they acknowledge, support and contribute towards the shared objectives articulated in this Strategy.

7.3 Shared goals and learning

Agreeing shared objectives

A key task of the ICP is to achieve an alignment between all the organisations involved in health and care in Mid and South Essex, from our acute hospitals through to neighbourhood level voluntary groups supporting people to stay healthy and well.

Part of our work in developing this Strategy was to review the strategic and operational plans of our members and pull together shared objectives. When we did this, we found a very high level of congruity around priorities: prevention and early intervention, reducing inequalities in health outcomes and delivering more health and care closer to communities. There is remarkable alignment here and this is a solid basis for the ICP's work in the 2020s and beyond. We will, however, continually review strategies and operational plans of our partners as they develop and change over time, taking these into consideration in the evolution of our shared Integrated Care Strategy.

Regular review and refinement

The ICP is new and will develop over time. Our shared objectives will evolve, and corresponding outcome measures, which will be established during the early part of 2023, will continue to develop as our partnership matures. We will regularly review performance, publishing an annual report on our progress.

Innovation, learning and quality improvement

The work of the Partnership will be based upon the best available evidence and research. We will commit to rapid test and learn, and longer-term pilot projects, which explore, innovative approaches, backed up by solid research and evaluation. Working with our university partners, we will share the findings openly, at a local, regional, and national level, building our reputation as a centre of learning and development in the health and care sector.

We will regularly consider and review how we can best meet assessed needs and work to secure a continuous and sustainable improvement in care quality and outcomes, including with reference to the National Quality Board guidance and other frameworks which support quality improvement.

7.4 Acting together

Joint working

In line with our commitment to develop effective partnership working to better meet the needs of residents, we will regularly review opportunities for joint commissioning and closer partnership working. We will consider when and how our residents' needs could be better met through an arrangement, such as the pooling of budgets, under Section 75 of the NHS Act (2006). Section 75 can be a key tool to enable integration and our Partnership has considered the benefits of Section 75 agreements as part of preparing this Strategy. Whilst acknowledging the Partnership is not a commissioner of services - that remains the responsibility of our partner organisations and agencies - we will always promote and encourage and expect joint commissioning to take place, where it better meets the needs of our residents.

Use of resources

Our Partnership sees the use of our system's physical, financial, and human resources, and the deployment of our data digital and intellectual property assets, as being key to the success of our work together as a system.

Together, we will set targets and expectations around the effective use of financial resources, particularly in relation to our objective of seeing increasing investment in early intervention and prevention. It follows that we will aim to flex resources between different care and service areas over time. We will have the courage to do things differently and do different things, but will also expect our partners to stop or change things which are not working.

As partnership working develops and it becomes easier to provide more care in or closer to people's homes, we will expect to see the proportion of spend in acute and crisis interventions in health and care reduce significantly, as investment in primary care and early intervention and prevention goes up. Partners are already working collaboratively (e.g., through our multi-agency 'Stewardship' groups, refining and developing our approach to key care areas) to establish how resources can be best used, to best meet the needs of our residents and to ensure maximum efficiency and benefit. Where joint opportunities arise, for example, the Better Care Fund, or the Adult Social Care Discharge Fund, we will expect partners to work together in a spirit of cooperation and mutual agreement to determine how and where these funds are re-allocated.

Refinement of services and pathways

Our Partnership will play a key role, through our engagement work and commitment to innovation and learning and quality improvement, and in our assessment of risk, in ensuring that pathways are refined and improved to better meet the needs of residents. In particular, we will ensure that pathways actively include more diverse contributors, including those services and supports provided by our voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sector and local businesses.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

- We will work together to define our working practices as a partnership, and review progress annually. (W24 - 09/23 and ongoing)
- We will ensure partner organisations are aligned on common goals and share plans and resources wherever effective. (W25 - 03/24 and ongoing)

I STATEMENTS

 I will see the ICP as a powerful advocate for health and care, working positively to effect change at a neighbourhood, place, and system level. (I16 - 03/24 and ongoing)

8 Governance and operation

8.1 Our board

Our ICP is chaired by an Independent Chair, with three Vice Chairs - being the Chairs of the Health and Wellbeing Boards of our upper tier local authorities.

Our formal Partnership meetings will always be held in public, and there will be ample opportunity for engagement with a wider range of partners and stakeholders through an ongoing series of debates, talks and workshops throughout the year, feeding to and from an annual symposium or conference.

The business of the meetings will be conducted professionally, with decisions clearly recorded and communicated. A standard meeting Agenda and Annual Business Cycle will be developed, giving clarity about expectations, ensuring no statutory or regulatory requirements fall off the agenda. However, in addition to attending to business, every meeting will provide opportunities for networking and relationship building, with a focus on discussion, debate, and shared learning. We will explore opportunities for teambuilding and improving our working relationships.

8.2 Inputs and outputs

Our Partnership will work together with our three local authority Health and Wellbeing Boards and our local Alliance Boards/Committees. A representative from the Partnership will attend these boards, ensuring there is a consistent exchange of ideas and influence.

In addition to establishing a new Community Assembly, Independent and Private Providers Network, and Community Voices Network which will feed directly into the work of the Partnership, we will map all boards, groups and forums convened by our partners responding to their own local, sectoral, or thematic areas of work. We will ensure there are clear routes for receiving and sharing information from these boards and forums, and in turn sharing the work of the Partnership.

8.3 Membership

The membership of our ICP is well established but will be kept under regular review. Residents, partners, and stakeholders not currently attending the formal Partnership meetings should feel able to influence and inform the work of the Partnership. As our engagement work matures, we will consider whether an alternative, representative membership model may be appropriate, to formalise arrangements allowing established forums and committees to nominate representatives who may attend the formal Partnership meetings.

8.4 Terms of reference and values

The Terms of Reference, format and structure of our meetings will be regularly reviewed, in line with good governance standards. Partners have an agreed set of values, developed as part of the formation of our predecessor body, the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership. This will be reviewed and updated as and when required.

8.5 Regulatory and statutory requirements

As a statutory committee, we will continually monitor how we are meeting statutory and regulatory requirements as they exist now and in the future. Appendix Two addresses the requirements for the formation of the ICP and the development of this Integrated Care Strategy.

8 Governance and operation

8.6 Resources

We will identify the resources needed to ensure our Partnership is able to manage its work effectively. Initially, a small, agile infrastructure will support the work of the Partnership, but this will grow over time as we demonstrate the impact of this way of working and as we identify additional opportunities. All partners will be expected to contribute time, skills and expertise as part of the ongoing work of our Partnership.

What should partners and individuals expect?

WE STATEMENTS

I STATEMENTS

- We will identify and secure the resources needed to ensure the ICP can deliver against the priorities it has set. (W26 - 04/23 and ongoing)
- I will feel able to engage and contribute to the ongoing work of the Partnership. (I17 - 03/24 and ongoing)

Appendix One

Population health data - snapshot



Deprivation in MSE

On average deprivation in MSE is lower than the national average.

In MSE an estimated **133,000** people live in the 20% most deprived areas nationally. That is **10.5%** of the whole MSE population. Each box describes the Alliance population living in the 20% most deprived areas nationally (total number and percentage of their population)

Consequences of Inequalities - Life Expectancy



Slope Index of Inequality (S11) in MSE by Sex

86.0 84.7 84.6 84.2 83.9 84.0 83.3 83.1 83.0 82.7 82.4 82.0 81.3 81.1 80.7 80.5 80.2 80.0 79.4 79 0 78.4 78.3 78.0 76.0 74.0 Chelmsford Rochford Brentwood Maldon Braintree Castle Point Basildon Southend-Thurrock on-Sea Males Females — England Males — England Females

Life Expectancy at birth in MSE by Sex and Deprivation



Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth in MSE by Sex

Т

Risk Factors for Premature Mortality



Inequality & Behavioural Risk Factors

Global Burden of Disease Study

- Cross-cutting risks

Tobacco

- Blood Pressure
- Dietry Risks





Percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as overweight or obese (2020/21)



Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers by APS 2019



Appendix Two

Regulatory and statutory requirements

In forming our ICP and developing this Strategy, we have met the regulatory requirements set out by the Department for Health and Social Care, which can be summarised as follows:

"Integrated care partnerships (ICPs) will operate as a statutory committee, bringing together the NHS and local authorities as equal partners to focus more widely on health, public health and social care. ICPs will include representatives from the ICB, the local authorities within their area and other partners such as NHS providers. public health, social care, housing services, and voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) organisations. They will be responsible for developing an integrated care strategy, which sets out how the wider health needs of the local population will be met. This should be informed by any relevant joint strategic needs assessments. In developing its integrated care strategy, the ICP must involve the local Healthwatch. the VCSE sector, and people and communities living in the area. ICPs will not directly commission services"

The Kings Fund

We have regard for the guidance released on:

- The preparation of integrated care strategies by integrated care partnerships
- Health and wellbeing boards and how they will work with and within integrated care systems
- Principles for integrated care partnership engagement with adult social care providers
- Principles for integrated care partnership engagement with health overview and scrutiny committees.

We have met the requirements identified including:

Statutory requirements	Further detail
The integrated care strategy must set out how the 'assessed needs' from the joint strategic needs assessments in relation to its area are to be met by the functions of integrated care boards for its area, NHSE, or partner local authorities.	We have reviewed the needs including the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and our Population health Management data. We have identified how we will continue to review and refresh our shared objectives as needs change and new opportunities arise. We have identified shared outcomes; considered quality improvement, joint working and section 75 of the NHS Act 2006; personalised care; disparities in health and social care; population health and prevention; health protection; babies, children, young people, and their families, and health ageing; workforce; research and innovation; 'health-related services'; data and information sharing.
	See Section 1.5 through to 1.7

Statutory requirements	Further detail
In preparing the integrated care strategy, the integrated care partnership must, in particular, consider whether the needs could be more effectively met with an arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.	We have considered joint working and identified when and how we will expect Partners to enter into joint commissioning arrangements under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006' in this document for further detail on this requirement. See Section 7.4
The integrated care partnership may include a statement on better integration of health or social care services with 'health-related' services in the integrated care strategy.	We have included a statement to this effect. See Section 7
The integrated care partnership must have regard to the NHS mandate in preparing the integrated care strategy.	We have had regard for the NHS Mandate See Section 1.8
The integrated care partnership must involve in the preparation of the integrated care strategy: local Healthwatch organisations whose areas coincide with, or fall wholly or partly within the integrated care partnership's area; and people who live and work in the area.	We have engaged widely and indicated how/when we will undertake further ongoing engagement with people who live and work in the area. See Section 1.4
The integrated care partnership must publish the integrated care strategy and give a copy to each partner local authority and each integrated care board that is a partner to one of those local authorities.	The Integrated care Strategy has been published and copies given to each partner local authority and each integrated care board. The Partnership has identified how it will disseminate the Strategy with the wider community and engage them in our work moving forwards.
Integrated care partnerships must consider revising the integrated care strategy whenever they receive a joint strategic needs assessment.	The Partnership has identified how/when it will review its objectives on receipt of updated joint strategic needs assessments. See Section 1.8

The Integrated Care Partnership will regularly review new guidance and changes in requirements, including, but not limited to, setting, and reviewing common objectives, inspection, audit, financial regulations, safeguarding and equal opportunities.

Appendix Three

Priorities for the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership

- 1. Prevention. We will transform services from those that react to health and care needs, to those that play a proactive part in keeping our residents as healthy and independent for as long as possible. We will intervene earlier to help people remain well. We recognise that this approach is both good for our population's health and wellbeing, and saves money in the longer term.
- 2. Partnership. Progress occurs at the speed of trust. We will ensure that future transformation and integration builds upon the strong relationships and partnerships at System, Place and Locality/PCN level and seek to protect and nurture these relationships. We will ensure that future partnership arrangements include the widest possible range of stakeholders. As partners, at every level, we will act for the benefit of the population we serve, not for organisational self-interest. We will ensure that our residents are engaged as equal partners in decision making on future transformation activity at the most appropriate level.
- 3. Whole Systems Thinking. We recognise the value of coordinated action across all providers at each level of the system, as the best way to address the health and wellbeing challenges that our residents face. We have developed a single outcomes framework that operates across System, Place and Locality footprints. We seek to define population outcomes-based contracts that coordinate action across multiple providers to ensure our system becomes sustainable over the long term.

- 4. Strengths and Asset Based Approach. We believe in a 'strengths and solutions' based approach. We see the individual as a whole person with differing needs and wants, not a passive recipient of "top down" services. We will harness and empower individuals to solve their own problems, with service providers support to 'fill the gaps'. We will leverage existing community and third sector assets in care delivery, connecting individuals with support outside of traditional NHS or Social Care interventions. This strengths-based approach to delivering care will generate positive and varied solutions tailored to the wider wellbeing needs of each resident, not a 'one size fits all' option.
- 5. Subsidiarity. We believe in 'building from the bottom up'. We want to plan and deliver care in the heart of our communities. We recognise that PCNs and localities are the building blocks around which integration best occurs. We will devolve planning and delivery down to the lowest possible level where it makes sense to do so. Our starting point for service delivery, transformation and integration will be locality/sub locality level and we will only plan, commission and deliver services over wider geographical footprints where a clear case can be made that this is necessary.
- 6. Empowering front line staff to do the right thing. We believe in 'distributed leadership'; harnessing the creativity and energy of staff. We will move from a transactional model of commissioning to an approach that focuses on outcomes.
- 7. Pragmatic Pluralism. We recognise that across the system and our places there is a considerable heterogeneity of need between populations. We recognise that there are some actions it makes sense to do once at system level, whilst others that need to be handled differently in different places and localities. We will respect this diversity and develop pragmatic solutions that respond to it.

I.

- 8. Health Intelligence and the evidence base. We recognise the importance of health intelligence and published evidence to fully understand and then best respond to ensure a high quality of care. We will use our joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) programmes to understand the needs of our residents and improve their outcomes. We will look for opportunities for joint working between the three Public Health teams on shared health intelligence products. We know that different population groups have different care needs and we will use **Population Health Management techniques** like risk stratification and predictive modelling developed from our integrated health and care record system to identify and segment 'at risk' cohorts in our population and design targeted, tailored and proactive evidencebased interventions to keep people well.
- 9. Innovation. Transforming the way we work means trying innovative approaches. To make progress we will try and test new approaches, evaluating as we go, keeping the best and not admonishing ourselves where we fail and not being afraid to stop things that have not worked.